IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

COSTELL WALTON, JR.,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC 05-774

The Florida Bar File No. 2004-51,708(17A)

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT7
ARGUMENT
I. WHETHER A LAWYER VIOLATES THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY BY NOT PROVIDING A SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT UNTIL FULL AND TOTAL PAYMENT IS TENDERED
II. WHETHER A NINETY ONE DAY SUSPENSION FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW IS AN APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR PROVIDING AN UNTIMELY SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT 18
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATION AS TO FONT SIZE AND STYLE

TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS

Cases	Page(s)
1.	Dade County v. American Reinsurance Company, 467 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1985) 10
2.	Morton v. Ansin, 129 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1981)
3.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Barcus</u> , 697 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1997)
4.	The Florida Bar v. Canto, 668 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996)
5.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Chosid</u> , 500 So. 2d 150 (Fla. 1987)
6.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Chosid</u> , 869So. 2d 541 (Fla. 2004)
7.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Della-Donna</u> , 583 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1989)
8.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Golden</u> , 502 So. 2d 891 (Fla. 1987)
9.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u> , 433 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1983)
10.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Maier</u> , 784 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 2001)
11.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Morse</u> , 784 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 2001) 20,21
12.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Nunes</u> , 734 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1999)
13.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Porter</u> , 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996)
14.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Price</u> , 569 So. 2d 1261 (Fla. 1990)
15.	<u>The Bar v. Thomas</u> , 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997)
16.	<u>The Florida Bar v. Whitaker</u> , 596 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 1992)

ii

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellee, will be referred to as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar." Costell Walton, Jr., Appellant, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held in this matter. Exhibits introduced by the parties will be designated as TFB Ex. ____ or Resp. Ex.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent, Costell Walton, Jr., successfully represented his clients, Tisa Burney and Catherine Badgett, in a law suit against Louis Asbate, who is the individual that filed the Bar grievance in this case. RR2. Asbate was sued to secure the refund of a real estate deposit that Burney and Badgett had given to Asbate in order to purchase a home that was being sold by Asbate. RR2-3. There was significant animus between the buyer and seller during the real estate transaction and this flowed over into the litigation, with neither party really trusting or liking the other party. TT45 and TT158. The testimony from both lawyers in the litigation was that their relationship remained cordial and professional. TT103-104; 159

On February 12, 2004, the trial court entered a judgment in favor of the Respondent's clients, with the judgment awarding them the return of their \$3,000.00 deposit and \$250.00 for the costs associated with filing the lawsuit, with interest on the judgment to accrue at seven percent (7%) per annum. RR3. The judgment specifically reserved jurisdiction on the issue of attorneys' fees and further costs that could be assessed against Asbate. The instant action concerns the satisfaction of this judgment.

During the course of the litigation over the escrow deposit, the parties agreed to the deposit of the disputed \$3,000.00 into the court registry for eventual payout

to the prevailing party. RR3. As these funds were in the court registry at the conclusion of the case, the only funds necessary to satisfy the judgment were (a) the \$250.00 for the cost award and (b) interest from the date of the judgment forward to the date of final payment of judgment.¹ RR3.

Asbate, upon the advice of his legal counsel, Kevin Hagen, decided that it would be in his best interest to not pay the remaining portions of the judgment until such time as the potential liability for the payment of the Respondent's client's legal fees had diminished. RR3. It is undisputed in the record that Asbate did not request any estoppel or payoff information from the Respondent or his client, but instead made his own calculation on the interest that should be owed on the judgment and forwarded to his lawyer a check made payable to his lawyer's trust account in the amount of \$254.08. Asbate admitted under cross examination that his interest calculation did not allow for additional interest to cover the time frame between Asbate's delivery of a check to Hagen and the turnaround time necessary for Hagen to get clear funds in his trust account and then for Hagen to deliver his

¹ Unless there was a further award of fees and costs and there was no such order in this case.

trust account check to the Respondent.² TT134-135. Asbate's lawyer made the same admission. TT37.

The Referee noted that on May 11, 2004, Hagen forwarded his trust account check in the amount of \$254.08 to the Respondent along with a request that the Respondent provide a recorded satisfaction of judgment. RR3. Hagen's trust account check was received by the Respondent on May 12, 2004. TT196. The Respondent testified that upon his receipt of the check he examined the cover letter from Hagen and the interest calculation that was used and immediately discovered that the interest calculation was wrong making the tendered check less than full payment of his client's judgment. TT192-198. The Respondent further testified that he took no further action at that time because he believed that Asbate was playing a game or continuing in his contentious ways. TT198.

The Referee pointed out that on June 28, 2004 (47 days after the Respondent received Hagen's trust check³) Asbate filed a complaint to The Florida Bar alleging the Respondent had failed to provide a satisfaction of judgment. RR4. The Referee also discussed that it was the Respondent's position, at the time of the

² In fact his calculation allowed for interest through May 7, 2004 and the ultimate check was not received by the Respondent until May 12, 2004, a difference of five days.

³ Please note that Fla. Stat. §701.04(1) allows a 60 day period to provide a satisfaction of judgment after a judgment has been fully paid and that Fla. Stat. §701.05 only allows for a thirty day period after a written demand and full payment having been tendered.

filing of the grievance, that he owed no obligation to Asbate. RR4. The Respondent made such statement because from the time that he received Hagen's check through the time frame of the filing of the Bar grievance, the judgment was not fully satisfied. Further, the judgment was not fully satisfied until mid November, 2004, when additional funds were provided to the Respondent and a check was delivered made payable to his clients in the correct amount. TT40.

The Respondent drafted a satisfaction of judgment and his client's executed same on or about September 30, 2004, which was forwarded to Asbate's lawyer by letter dated December 14, 2004. TT92-93; 175-176; 199-200. However, the Report of Referee finds that the Respondent sent the satisfaction on January 21, 2005. RR4. The Referee correctly finds that when the satisfaction was forwarded to Hagen, it was unrecorded and that Asbate completed the recordation. RR4-5. While the Referee failed to comment on the reimbursement of the recording fees, Asbate admitted that the Respondent later reimbursed Asbate for the twenty seven dollar fee. TT142.

The Referee took issue with the Respondent's decision to file a Motion for Clarification and/or Determination of When Judgment was Satisfied in the underlying litigation on September 6, 2005. RR5. This motion was heard on October 6, 2005 and the full transcript of such hearing is in evidence. RR5; also see Resp. Ex. 1. Interestingly, the trial Judge, the Honorable Martin Dishowitz,

found that the judgment had not been fully satisfied upon the presentation of the \$254.08 check albeit he believed the payment was only fourteen cents short. TT188-190.

The Referee's report finds the Respondent guilty of three substantive rule violations⁴ and three procedural or catch all rule violations.⁵ After having found the Respondent guilty, the Referee made the following sanction recommendation:

A. A ninety-one day suspension from the practice of law, which suspension would require proof of rehabilitation;

B. Payment of Asbate's legal fees and costs (if any) caused by the Respondent's "failure to timely prepare and record the satisfaction of judgment";

C. Payment of the Bar's costs and

D.Completion of a Law Office Management Assistance Service (LOMAS) evaluation.

The Respondent in this appeal seeks review of the Referee's findings of guilt

and her sanction recommendation.

⁴ R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1 [A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client.]; R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.3 [A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence in representing a client.]; 4-8.4(d) [A lawyer shall not engage in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice.].

⁵ R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3.4.2 [Violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct is cause for discipline.]; R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.3 [The commission of any act contrary to honesty and justice is cause for discipline.]; 4.8.4(a) [A lawyer shall not violate the Rules of Professional Conduct.].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Respondent in this case enforces his client's rights to receive full and complete satisfaction of a judgment that they held. The statutory provisions relied upon by the Bar and the Referee in seeking to discipline the Respondent place certain obligations upon the judgment holder and not the judgment holder's counsel. Notwithstanding this fact, the Bar successfully convinced a Referee that notwithstanding a lack of full payment of a judgment, with the Bar's own witnesses admitting that the initial tendered payment was short several days of interest, that the Respondent ought to be found primarily liable under these statutory provisions for failing to give a satisfaction of judgment where no legal obligation existed to do so at that time.

Not only are the Referee and the Bar wrong on the facts of this case, they are wrong on the sanction that is recommended and the underlying analysis to reach the sanction recommendation set forth in the Report of Referee. The primary violations found by the Referee sound in failure to provide competent and diligent representation to a client. Firstly, the complainant herein is not the Respondent's client and secondly these types of cases are routinely resolved at the public reprimand level. While the Respondent understands that his prior disciplinary record, even though he has not been disciplined for almost thirteen years, warrants some enhancement that enhancement should not be to a ninety-one day suspension.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER A LAWYER VIOLATES THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY BY NOT PROVIDING A SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT UNTIL FULL AND TOTAL PAYMENT IS TENDERED.

At issue in this appeal is whether a lawyer should be suspended from the practice of law when that lawyer does not provide a recorded satisfaction of judgment to an individual who has made less than full and total payment of a judgment. The Referee has found the Respondent guilty of having committed certain ethical violations notwithstanding (1) that the first payment sent to the lawyer was not full payment of the judgment in that it had an improper amount of interest and (2) that the lawyer did ultimately provide a fully executed satisfaction of judgment, prior to the expiration of the 60 day period of time allowed by Fla. Stat. §701.04(1).

It is well settled that a referee's findings of fact and guilt are presumed to be correct and the appealing party has the burden to demonstrate that these findings are "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support." <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Canto</u>, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996); <u>The Florida Bar v. Porter</u>, 684 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1996). It is the Respondent's position that the Referee's findings of guilt are clearly erroneous and that as to the ultimate issue (an obligation to provide a satisfaction prior to full payment) is lacking in evidentiary support.

Prior to discussing the facts of this case it is important to review the various statutory requirements concerning the satisfaction of a judgment. Two of these statutes are referenced in the Referee's Report and the third is mentioned as part of the Respondent's explanation of why the Respondent forwarded an executed satisfaction to opposing counsel, but did not directly cause same to be recorded prior to transmitting same.

Fla. Stat. § 701.04(1) explains in relevant part that: "(w)ithin 60 days of the date of receipt of full payment" of a judgment the judgment holder "shall send or cause to be sent" a recorded satisfaction to the person who has made such payment.⁶ This subsection also states that the judgment holder has an obligation to provide an estoppel letter indicating the amount owed on the judgment and a per diem rate of interest upon the request of the debtor. This statutory provision does not require the debtor to make a demand for the satisfaction.

The second statutory provision is slightly different. Fla. Stat. § 701.05 states that any judgment holder who accepts full payment of the judgment and "who shall fail for 30 days after written demand made by the person paying the same, to

⁶ If we use the date of receipt of the first tendered payment as May 12, 2004, the bar complaint filed by Asbate by letter dated June 28, 2004 was clearly made prior to the expiration of this 60 day period. See TFB Ex. 2.

cancel and satisfy of record" said judgment is guilty of a misdemeanor.⁷ The difference in this statutory provision is that there must be a written demand for a satisfaction after full payment and if both criteria are met then the judgment holder has 30 days to provide the satisfaction.

The last statutory provision, Fla. Stat. §55.141, is not mentioned in the Report of Referee, but the Respondent testified that he believed he was following this statute, as well as the custom and practice in Broward County concerning the satisfaction of judgments. Fla. Stat. §55.141 places the burden on the Clerk of the Court to record a satisfaction of judgment, provided by the judgment holder, when monies to pay the judgment are/or were on deposit in the court registry.

For each of the statutory provisions to apply there must be full payment.⁸ It is therefore important to discern when the judgment at issue in this case was fully paid and satisfied.

The judgment in this case was rendered on February 12, 2004 and established that the Respondent's had prevailed on the claim for the \$3,000.00 escrow deposit, as well as reimbursement for \$250.00 in court costs plus seven

⁷ Please note that this particular statutory provision was repealed in July 2005. However, this provision was in effect at the time of the initial payment (but not full payment), and at the time that full payment was made.

⁸ If the amount of the tendered payment "does not include the interest to which a creditor is entitled, the tender is nugatory." <u>Dade County v. American Re-Insurance Company</u>, 467 So. 2d 414,420 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985) citing to <u>Morton v.</u> <u>Ansin</u>, 129 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1961)

percent interest on the amount of the total judgment. RR3. Previously the \$3,000.00 had been deposited into the court registry and the parties are in agreement that interest should not be calculated on the funds in the court registry. Thus, interest was only to be calculated on the cost award.

Asbate testified that he did not seek any estoppel information from the Respondent or his clients,⁹ but instead made his own interest calculation. After making his own calculation, he forwarded his personal check made payable to his lawyer's trust account in the amount of \$254.08. See TFB Ex. 2. Asbate asserts that he mailed this check to Hagen, his lawyer, on May 5, 2004, and that in turn Hagen mailed same to the Respondent on May 10, 2004. See TFB Ex. 2. The Report of Referee notes that Hagen sent his trust account check to the Respondent in the amount of \$254.08 on May 11, 2004. RR3. The Report is silent on the date that the Respondent received said check. However, the testimony at trial was that Hagen "issued his check" on May 11, 2004, along with his cover letter of May 10, 2004, (TT35) and that the Respondent received said check shortly thereafter. TT196.

The Report of Referee is also silent on the fact that the check that was delivered to the Respondent in May 2004 was insufficient to fully satisfy the judgment. Asbate admitted under cross examination that his interest calculation

See Fla. Stat. § 701.04(1).

did not allow sufficient per diem interest to allow for the delivery of the check from his lawyer to the Respondent. TT134-135. Further, his own lawyer testified that the interest calculation that was used for the May 2004 tender of payment was short four days of interest. TT80. Without this additional interest there was no full payment of the judgment as required to trigger any of the statutory references above. The exact amount of such shortage is immaterial because the \$254.08 was not full payment. That said, it is evident that the Respondent should have extended a professional courtesy to his colleague, Hagen, and advised him that the interest calculation was wrong. However, the failure to extend a professional courtesy should not be equated to a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

At this juncture it is also important to discuss the proceedings held before the Honorable Martin Dishowitz, upon the Motion for Clarification and/or Determination of When the Judgment was Satisfied, which motion was filed by the Respondent. While not charged in its complaint, the bar contended that this proceeding was frivolous and not relevant to the determination of any issue in this case. The Respondent disagreed and successfully introduced the transcript of this hearing. See Resp. Ex. 1. The Bar would prefer not to discuss this motion and the judge's ruling thereon because it was not helpful to their proposition that the testimony was that Judge Dishowitz found that the \$254.08 was *not* full payment of the judgment. TT194-195.

Ultimately the Respondent and Hagen discussed the fact that the initial tendered payment did not include all of the interest that was due on the judgment. TT40. Further, Hagen was advised that his trust account check remained uncashed and in fact was returned to him after that discussion. TT 197-198. On or about October 25, 2004, Hagen resent the previous check for \$254.08 and as Hagen recalled \$.27 in change to make up the difference in the interest calculation. TT38-39. This check and change was returned to Hagen by letter dated November 4, 2004 and shortly thereafter Hagen forwarded a new trust account check made payable directly to the Respondent's clients in the amount of \$254.35. TT39. It was at this time that the judgment was fully satisfied and the Respondent was obligated to provide a satisfaction of judgment.¹⁰ Unfortunately, the record does not recite the exact date that the check made payable to the Respondent's client was forwarded or received by the Respondent. For purposes of this Brief, the Respondent will use mid November as the reference point for full satisfaction of the judgment. The testimony in this case reveals that the Respondent forwarded an unrecorded satisfaction to Hagen by letter dated December 14, 2004. TT92-93;

¹⁰ One could argue that until the monies were received from the Court registry that the judgment was not fully satisfied. However, the Respondent even prior to the receipt of the additional twenty seven cents had drafted a satisfaction and forwarded same to his client's for execution.

175-176; 199-200. December 14, 2004 is well within the 60 day period allowed by Fla. Stat. §701.04 and appears to be within the 30 day time frame allowed by Fla. Stat. §701.05.

While the Respondent timely forwarded a satisfaction of judgment to Hagen, it was not recorded at that time. There are two points to make in this regards. Firstly, Asbate testified that when he received the satisfaction of judgment from his lawyer, he personally recorded same at his expense. The Respondent upon being advised of this fact sent a reimbursement check to Hagen in the amount of \$27.00 Secondly, and more importantly the Respondent to cover the recording fee. provided a full explanation on why he forwarded the satisfaction in an unrecorded form. It was the Respondent's testimony that he secured an executed satisfaction from his clients and then sent it to Hagen to make sure he had no objection to the form of the satisfaction and if there was no objection then he expected Hagen to forward same to the Clerk of the Court for filing and recordation at no cost. TT199-200. Please note that Fla. Stat. 55.141(2) provides that a satisfaction of judgment may be recorded in this fashion. While the Referee and this Court may, in hindsight, find that the Respondent should have directly forwarded the satisfaction on for recording, the Respondent's actions in forwarding an executed satisfaction to Asbate's attorney were made in good faith and in an effort to promptly resolve the satisfaction issue. The Respondent explained that there was

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