IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V.

COSTELL WALTON, JR.,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC05-774

The Florida Bar File No. 2004-51,708(17A)

THE FLORIDA BAR'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON APPEAL FROM A REPORT OF REFEREE

LORRAINE CHRISTINE HOFFMANN, #612669 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954) 772-2245

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS, #253847 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is well settled that a referee's findings of fact enjoy the presumption of correctness and may not be disturbed until and unless the appellant demonstrates clear error or a lack of evidentiary support. In his initial brief, respondent has demonstrated neither clear error nor a lack of evidentiary support in the bar disciplinary case. Instead, respondent argued that the referee failed to correctly measure his conduct by the applicable civil law (regarding the satisfaction of judgments). He also complained that had she done so, the referee would have recommended that no bar discipline be imposed against him.

The referee in this case did not commit error. In the underlying civil case, respondent developed significant animosity against Mr. Asbate and his lawyer, Kevin Hagen. [For reasons that he did not explain, respondent came to believe that Messrs. Asbate and Hagen disrespected him and his clients.] So, when Mr. Asbate swiftly paid the judgment against him, respondent seized the opportunity to punish him and his lawyer with a game of "gotcha" — by refusing to prepare and record a satisfaction of judgment (based on his belief that the amount Mr. Asbate paid was 23 cents less than what he owed), and by failing to tell Mr. Hagen or his client about the shortage. Because he perceived Mr. Asbate's simple calculation error to be a purposeful insult (for reasons he does not explain), respondent sat on this information, construed it as intentional and used it to deny Mr. Asbate the

satisfaction to which he was entitled. Respondent did this on his own initiative, without his clients' full knowledge or informed consent. After Mr. Asbate filed a sworn bar complaint against him, respondent denied any obligation to Mr. Asbate and advised The Florida Bar, in writing, that Mr. Asbate had mental problems and had been "proven to be a liar in a Court of Law." Neither claim was true, but respondent's game of "gotcha" continued and expanded, dangerously. From May to September, 2004, respondent utilized this "gotcha" stratagem, and refused to provide Mr. Asbate with a recorded satisfaction of his judgment. He also refused to explain his conduct or reveal the de minimus shortage — to Mr. Hagen, Mr. Asbate, or The Florida Bar. In late September 2004, respondent met Mr. Hagen in the courthouse, unexpectedly. This chance encounter assuaged respondent's feelings and prompted him to reveal the 23 cent shortage to Mr. Hagen, for the first time. Mr. Hagen paid the 23 cents immediately, out of his pocket change. Even then, after the judgment was fully paid, respondent continued in his refusal to prepare and record a satisfaction of the judgment. In late January 2005, respondent finally sent Mr. Asbate a satisfaction of judgment — but he still refused to record it. Gotcha, once again.

Over the course of 8 months, respondent executed a campaign of personal vengeance for unknown and undisclosed personal offenses, in the context of representing clients. He did this without his clients' knowledge and consent:

11

holding their settlement check in his file, unnegotiated, and telling them that he had not received the full judgment from Mr. Asbate — without revealing that the missing funds amounted to mere pennies. Respondent continued the game in his responses to The Florida Bar's investigative inquiries, and in his testimony before the referee. Holding fast and indeed clinging to the technical requirements and strict interpretation of the law on satisfaction of judgments, respondent abused the law as a means by which to punish Mr. Asbate and his lawyer. By doing this, respondent violated the spirit of that law - knowingly, intentionally, and absolutely. Respondent's motivation, throughout this case, was not misplaced but zealous representation of his clients. Instead, respondent was motivated by his own personal dislike for Mr. Asbate and Mr. Hagen, *regardless* of his duty to his clients. This personal animus also caused respondent to forget his duties as an officer of the court. In October 2005 (about a week before the bar disciplinary trial), respondent convinced the civil trial judge to revisit the civil judgment entered in February 2004, and to enter an order regarding the amount of interest that should have been paid — despite the fact that the judgment was long satisfied and had even been recorded (by Mr. Asbate) by then. The referee recognized respondent's intentions and motivations, and found that his frivolous civil motion, where no case or controversy existed, had been prejudicial to the administration of justice.

The referee's conclusions in this case proclaim, with unwavering certainty, that respondent's game of "gotcha" should not go unpunished. The referee's findings of fact are consistent with that proclamation, as is her recommended discipline. Because respondent testified that he does not regret his conduct, and would repeat it, even if a judgment payment were "one penny" short [TT 177], the referee correctly determined that respondent should receive a rehabilitative suspension of 91 days, together with the other terms and conditions set forth in her report.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE CORRECTLY FOUND THAT **RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT, IN REFUSING** TO PROVIDE Α RECORDED SATISFACTION OF JUDGMENT (BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT DEBTOR **UNKNOWINGLY MADE A 14 CENT OR 23** CENT ERROR IN CALCULATING AND PAYING INTEREST), PRESENTED CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF **RESPONDENT'S VIOLATION OF CERTAIN RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR.**

Respondent's first appellate issue states: "[a]t issue in this appeal is whether a lawyer should be suspended from the practice of law when that lawyer does not provide a recorded satisfaction of judgment to an individual who has made less than full and total payment of a judgment." Stated differently, respondent's question asks whether this Court should suspend a lawyer who represents his client within the parameters of the applicable Florida Statutes controlling the satisfaction of judgments — and of course, the answer is no. Respondent's simplistic question is inapposite to the facts of the instant case because it omits a multitude of crucial elements: that the judgment debtor had paid all but 14 (or 23) cents of the judgment;⁴ that the judgment debtor's failure to pay the missing pennies was the result of plain error (such as respondent also committed in reaching his own

⁴ At the hearing before the civil trial judge, in October, 2005, it was determined that Mr. Asbate's shortage, in satisfying the judgment against him, was short 14 cents — and not 23 cents, as respondent had claimed.

incorrect conclusion that the shortage amounted to 23 cents); that respondent acted in bad faith and never revealed the de minimis shortage to the judgment debtor or The Florida Bar for months; that respondent repeatedly denied all obligation to the judgment debtor for months; that respondent engaged in a campaign to threaten, harass and defame the judgment debtor to The Florida Bar; that respondent failed to disclose the true amount of the "shortage" to his clients; and that respondent never, ever, provided the judgment debtor with the mandatory, recorded satisfaction of judgment required by the very (Florida) statutes he advances in his defense. Further, respondent's appellate issue, as stated, ignores the plain meaning and purpose of the law — indeed the spirit of the law: that judgment debtors who pay their debts are entitled to legal release, recorded in the public record. Respondent did not challenge this plain truth at any stage of the instant disciplinary proceedings. He admitted that Mr. Asbate paid all but pennies of the judgment, within a short time after it was entered. But by stating his issue in the manner that he did, respondent asks this Court to cover its eyes and look the other way, so that he may use the language of the law to violate its spirit. The Court must not look away and must not allow respondent to play "gotcha," again. On very different facts and in a vastly different context, this Court examined the balance between the letter of a statute and the spirit of the law in Garner v. Ward, 251 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1971). In that case (involving the correct interpretation of a wrongful death statute

dealing with the intervention of a party), this Court offered general guidance regarding the interpretation of all Florida statutes, holding that:

A statute should be construed to give effect to the evident legislative intent, even if the result seems contradictory to the rules of the construction and the strict letter of the statute; the spirit of the law prevails over the letter. <u>Beebe v. Richardson</u> [23 So.2d 718 (Fla. 1945)]. The intent prevails where strict application of the letter of the law would defeat its purpose, or be absurd. <u>Knight & Wall Co. v.</u> <u>Tampa Sand Lime Brick Co.</u>, 55 Fla. 728, 46 So. 285 (Fla. 1908).

<u>Garner</u>, at 256.

In the instant case, the evident legislative intent of Florida Statutes §701.04(1) and §701.05 is to encourage the payment of judgments and to ensure that judgment creditors provide judgment debtors with timely legal release of the debts they pay. While the language compelling payment in full is clearly intended to speak to the judgment debtor's obligation to the pay his entire debt, there is nothing in the statute or in the common law to suggest that a 14 cent error should be a complete and absolute bar to a debtor's right to a recorded satisfaction of a paid judgment. Nor is there anything in the statute to indicate that the precepts of good faith and fair play do not apply. Accordingly, even if respondent's clients had instructed him not to issue a satisfaction of judgment until every penny was paid (and they did not do this), simple professionalism and rudimentary ethics would have compelled respondent to make a good faith effort to bring the de minimis shortage to the judgment debtor's attention. What respondent did instead, in the instant case, strains the strictest application of the law, defeating its purpose and rendering an absurd (if not ridiculous) result. As this Court noted in <u>Garner</u>, the spirit of the law must prevail in circumstances such as these. If it does not, the "gotcha" school of litigation — which has been so roundly condemned by this Court and the district courts, will be revived and recharged. *See* <u>Ryan v. Lobo De Gonzalez, et al</u>, 921 So.2d 572 (Fla. 2005); <u>Jenkins v. UBN Global Trading Corporation</u>, 886 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), and <u>Salcedo v. Ass'n Cubana, Inc.</u>, 368 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979).

Finally, in considering and weighing this issue, this Court must determine whether respondent has demonstrated that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous or contrary to the weight of the evidence. In addressing this, at the bottom of page 8 of his initial brief, respondent stated that "[i]t is the respondent's position that the Referee's findings of guilt are clearly erroneous and that as to the ultimate issue (an obligation to provide a satisfaction prior to full payment) is [sic] lacking in evidentiary support." Because respondent's claim of error is confused, and his "ultimate issue" is misapplied, he has not met his appellate burden of proof. It is axiomatic that the referee is responsible for making findings of fact and for resolving conflicts in the evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v. Niles</u>, 644 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1994). Accordingly, her findings of fact are entitled to a presumption of correctness. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hayden</u>, 583 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1991). These

findings must be upheld unless the respondent proves that they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Scott</u>, 566 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1990), <u>The Florida Bar v. Vining</u>, 707 So.2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1998).

Respondent has advanced neither evidence nor argument to demonstrate clear error or a lack of evidentiary support. Accordingly, the referee's finding that respondent's conduct constitutes violation of the referenced Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, must be upheld.

П. **REFEREE CORRECTLY** THE **RECOM-**MENDED 91 DAY SUSPENSION, Α WITH TOGETHER CERTAIN **OTHER** TERMS AND **CONDITIONS.** AS DISCIPLINE THE APPROPRIATE IN **INSTANT CASE.**

After hearing all of the testimony, receiving all of the evidence, and considering mitigation, aggravation, respondent's prior discipline, the case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the referee recommended that respondent be suspended from the practice of law for 91 days. She also recommended that, as conditions precedent to his eligibility to apply for reinstatement, respondent be required to pay the bar's costs in these proceedings, that he undergo a Florida Bar Law Office Management Assistance Service (LOMAS) evaluation of his law office, and that he be required to pay restitution to Mr. Asbate and his attorney, for legal fees and costs (if any) caused by respondent's failure to timely prepare and record a satisfaction of judgment.

This Court has a wider scope of review over disciplinary recommendations than it does over findings of fact. This is because it falls to this Court to order appropriate punishment, when necessary. <u>The Florida Bar v. Anderson</u>, 538 So.2d 852, 854 (Fla. 1989). Notwithstanding this broader overview authority, a referee's recommendation of discipline is also afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or without record support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Niles</u>, *supra*.

In the instant case, the referee's disciplinary recommendation was synthesized from her review of the case law, the aggravating and mitigating factors present in the case, and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. In his initial brief, respondent took issue with each of these elements, and argued that the referee's analysis was wholly incorrect, or flawed. Beginning with the case law, respondent relied on The Florida Bar v. Price, 569 So.2d 1261 (Fla. 1990) and The Florida Bar v. Whitaker, 596 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1992) to support his claim that a public reprimand is the appropriate discipline to be imposed in the instant case. Both of these cases are inapposite because they bear no relevance to the instant case. In Price, the lawyer took a dismissal in a bankruptcy case without his clients' approval. Finding that Price's misconduct was an isolated incident, and because he had no disciplinary history, the Court imposed a public reprimand. Price is wholly unlike the case at bar. In the instant case, respondent engaged in an 8 month

odyssey of neglect, incompetence and deceit. His conduct negatively impacted the administration of justice and caused harm to his victim, Mr. Asbate. Over a 14 cent error in an interest calculation, and motivated by his own intense feelings of personal dislike, respondent precipitated a bar investigation, a referee hearing and now an appeal — all of which have wasted Court time and public resources. The respondent cannot, within the bounds of reason, argue that the instant case is like <u>Price</u>. Similarly, he cannot reasonably argue that the <u>Price</u> discipline of a public reprimand is appropriate in the instant case. <u>Whitaker</u>, a neglect case involving the expiration of a statute of limitations, is equally dissimilar to the instant case and its discipline (also public reprimand) is equally inappropriate.

While The Florida Bar found no reported case directly on point, given the unique facts of this case, it takes guidance from this Court's decision in <u>The Florida Bar v. Nowacki</u>, 697 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1997). In that case, the referee found the respondent (who had significant prior discipline, as does respondent) guilty of undue delay and communication violations, and imposed a 91 day suspension. In so doing, the Court noted that Nowacki's conduct evidenced a "persistent pattern of client neglect and mismanagement." <u>Nowacki</u>, at 833. In <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Jones, 403 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 1981), the Court upheld the referee's determination to suspend Jones for 6 months, for conduct which was prejudicial to the administration of justice. As respondent has failed to demonstrate case law which

establishes that the referee's recommendation of discipline is clearly erroneous, the presumption of correctness has not been compromised, and the referee's recommendation should stand.

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